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Preface  

The Public Accounts of Alberta are prepared in accordance with the Financial Administration Act 
and the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act. The Public Accounts consist of the annual report of 
the Government of Alberta and the annual reports of each ministry. 

On October 24, 2022, the government announced new ministry structures. As such, some of the 
responsibilities of the former Ministries of Service Alberta, and Jobs Economy and Innovation were 
transferred to the ministry of Technology and Innovation. The 2022-23 Annual Report reflects the 
2022-25 ministry business plans, the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan, as well as the ministry’s 
activities and accomplishments during the 2022-23 fiscal year, which ended on March 31, 2023. 

The Annual Report of the Government of Alberta contains Budget 2022 Key Results, the audited 
Consolidated Financial Statements and Performance Results, which compares actual performance 
results to desired results set out in the government’s strategic plan. 

This annual report of the Ministry of Technology and Innovation contains the Minister’s 
Accountability Statement, the ministry’s Financial Information and Results Analysis, a comparison 
of actual performance results to desired results set out in the ministry business plan. This ministry 
annual report also includes: 

  
• the financial statements of entities making up the ministry including Alberta 
Innovates, and Alberta Enterprise Corporation for which the minister is responsible;  
 
• other financial information as required by the Financial Administration Act and 
Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act, as separate reports, to the extent that the ministry 
has anything to report. 
 

 
All Ministry Annual Reports should be considered along with the Government of Alberta Annual 
Report to provide a complete overview of government’s commitment to openness, accountability 
and fiscal transparency.   
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Minister’s Accountability Statement  

The ministry’s annual report for the year ended March 31, 2023, was prepared under my direction 
in accordance with the Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act and the government’s accounting 
policies. All of the government’s policy decisions as at June 2, 2023 with material economic or fiscal 
implications of which I am aware have been considered in the preparation of this report. 

 

[Original signed by] 

 

Nate Glubish 

Minister of Technology and Innovation 
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Message from the Minister  

 
Alberta’s technology and innovation sector is booming, and the 
province continues to attract more talent, more investment and 
more entrepreneurs than ever before. Alberta’s government has 
been, and will continue to be, laser focused on helping to grow 
and diversify the province’s economy.   

The 2022-23 calendar year was another record-setting 
investment year for Alberta’s technology sector. Our province 
attracted $729 million in venture capital investment, a 30-per-
cent increase over 2021. Technology and Innovation (TI) has  
continued to advance better, faster, smarter services to 

Albertans.  We have added more digital court services including surrogate filings and made it 
possible for Albertans to make partial payments for traffic tickets and apply for critical supports 
online.  We developed and launched the Affordability Application Portal in January 2023, giving 
more than one million Albertans access to essential financial support during times of high inflation.    

As we work to ensure better services for Albertans, we are also focused on making government 
more efficient.  We introduced several new solutions, from improved learning management tools, 
request tracking systems and productivity tools to cloud-based storage solutions – that ensure 
government staff have the tools needed to deliver high-quality services to Albertans. Our ongoing 
work on Alberta’s Data Strategy complements this work by developing standards on how 
government can optimize the use, collection, storage, and security of its data while protecting the 
privacy of Albertans.  

We have also partnered with AltaML to establish GovLab.ai, Alberta’s first public sector artificial 
intelligence (AI) lab, which saw three cohorts work with industry experts to develop six promising 
projects. Several of these are focused on improving provincial government operations from wildfire 
management to looking at where to invest in new and existing schools.  Additionally, nine 
ministries have adopted robotic process automation solutions that improve staff efficiency and 
reduce wait times for Albertans; with many more opportunities underway or in the queue. 

A strong cybersecurity stance is essential to protect Albertans and government from the risk of a 
growing digital world. Over the last year, TI introduced new fraud detection tools, launched a 
vulnerability disclosure form where Albertans can report concerns, and further enhanced our 
internal cybersecurity tools and training. We continued to grow the CyberAlberta Community of 
Interest, a group cybersecurity stakeholders drawn from the public and private sector dedicated to 
improving the province’s overall cybersecurity stance through information sharing.  

Finally, ensuring all Albertans have proper access to high-speed internet remained a key focus for 
TI. We worked with the federal government to conditionally award funding to broadband projects 
that will connect 10,400 homes in more than 50 communities to high-speed internet. We also 
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introduced the Alberta Broadband Fund, which will make its first funding announcements later this 
fiscal year.   

While we have many accomplishments to celebrate, we are looking forward to another year of 
dedication to improving services, using technology and innovation to make Alberta the most 
innovative and modern province in Canada, where people come to invest, learn and grow.  

 

[Original signed by] 

 

Nate Glubish 
Minister of Technology and Innovation 
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Management’s Responsibility for Reporting  

The Ministry of Technology and Innovation includes the Department of Technology and Innovation 
as well as Alberta Innovates, and Alberta Enterprise Corporation. 

The executives of the individual entities within the ministry have the primary responsibility and 
accountability for the respective entities. Collectively, the executives ensure the ministry complies 
with all relevant legislation, regulations and policies. 

Ministry business plans, annual reports, performance results and the supporting management 
information are integral to the government’s fiscal and strategic plan, annual report, quarterly 
reports and other financial and performance reporting. 

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying ministry financial information 
and performance results for the ministry rests with the Minister of Technology and Innovation. 
Under the direction of the Minister, I oversee the preparation of the ministry’s annual report, which 
includes the financial information, performance results on all objectives and initiatives identified in 
the Ministry Business Plan, and performance results for all ministry-supported commitments that 
were included in the 2022-25 Government of Alberta Strategic Plan. The financial information and 
performance results, out of necessity, include amounts that are based on estimates and judgments. 
The financial information is prepared using the government’s stated accounting policies, which are 
based on Canadian public sector accounting standards. The performance measures are prepared in 
accordance with the following criteria: 

• Reliable – Information used in applying performance measure methodologies agrees with 
the underlying source data for the current and prior years’ results.  

• Understandable – the performance measure methodologies and results are presented 
clearly. 

• Comparable – the methodologies for performance measure preparation are applied 
consistently for the current and prior years’ results.  

• Complete – outcomes, performance measures and related targets match those included in 
the ministry’s Budget 2022.   

As Deputy Minister, in addition to program responsibilities, I am responsible for the ministry’s 
financial administration and reporting functions. The ministry maintains systems of financial 
management and internal control which give consideration to costs, benefits, and risks that are 
designed to: 

• provide reasonable assurance that transactions are properly authorized, executed in 
accordance with prescribed legislation and regulations, and properly recorded so as to 
maintain accountability of public money; 

• provide information to manage and report on performance; 
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• safeguard the assets and properties of the province under ministry administration; 

• provide Executive Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance, and the 
Minister of Technology and Innovation the information needed to fulfill their 
responsibilities; and 

• facilitate preparation of ministry business plans and annual reports required under the 
Fiscal Planning and Transparency Act. 

In fulfilling my responsibilities for the ministry, I have relied, as necessary, on the executives of the 
individual entities within the ministry. 

 

[Original signed by] 

 

Deputy Minister David James 
 
Deputy Minister of Technology and Innovation 
 
June 2, 2023 
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Results Analysis  

Table of Contents  
Ministry Overview ................................................................................................................................................ 10 

Organizational Structure ........................................................................................................................... 11 
Discussion and Analysis of Results .............................................................................................................. 15 

Actions that support the priorities of the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan ....... 15 
Red Tape Reduction ..................................................................................................................................... 16 
COVID-19/Recovery Plan ......................................................................................................................... 17 
Outcome One: Government is modernized ...................................................................................... 18 
Outcome Two: Data and information management is enhanced ......................................... 21 
Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economy and growth .... 24 
Outcome Three: Consumers are protected and a competitive business  
environment is preserved ........................................................................................................................ 26 
Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its 
 strengths ........................................................................................................................................................... 27 

Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology ............................................................................. 34 
 
 

  



 

Results Analysis 
 

 

10 Technology and Innovation | Annual Report 2022–2023 

Ministry Overview 
TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION has a strategic role within government to support Alberta’s 
economic growth by driving innovation, modernizing government and fostering efficient delivery of 
government programs, services and information. The ministry’s focus is to: 

• develop and deploy modern secure government digital services that are better, faster and 
smarter that allow Albertans to more easily access government services online, and 
government to operate more efficiently; 

• support the growth and development of Alberta’s technology and innovation sector to make 
Alberta a destination of choice for entrepreneurs, innovators and investors, and foster 
economic growth and diversification; and  

• ensure the privacy and personal information of Albertans is protected and managed 
through a privacy by design approach. 

Ministry Outcomes 
The 2022-25 Business Plan for the former Ministry of Service Alberta listed three outcomes. Due to 
the October 2022 government reorganization, these outcomes will be reported as detailed below. 

The Ministry of Technology and Innovation will report on: 

• Outcome One: Government is modernized 

• Outcome Two: Data and information management is enhanced 

The Ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction will report on: 

• Outcome Three: Consumers are protected and a competitive business environment is 
preserved 

Similarly, the 2022-25 Business Plan for the former Ministry of Jobs, Economy and Innovation listed 
three outcomes. Due to the transfer of the division responsible for the innovation portfolio as well 
the agencies of Alberta Innovates and Alberta Enterprise Corporation to the Ministry of Technology 
and Innovation, these outcomes will be reported as detailed below. 

The Ministries of Trade, Immigration and Multiculturalism and Jobs, Economy and Northern 
Development will report on: 

• Outcome One: Alberta’s economy is recovered and growing 

The Ministry of Technology and Innovation will report on all or portions of: 

• Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economic recovery and growth 

• Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its strengths 

  



 

 Results Analysis 
 

 

Technology and Innovation | Annual Report 2022–2023 11 

Organizational Structure 
In October 2022 the new Ministry of Technology and Innovation was formed by combining 
technology and innovation divisions from the former Ministry of Service Alberta and the former 
Ministry of Jobs, Economy, and Innovation.  The new Ministry consists of the Department of 
Technology and Innovation, as well as Alberta Innovates, and Alberta Enterprise Corporation. 

Technology Support and Operations 
Technology Support and Operations (TSO) provides information and technology (IT) services to 
support Government of Alberta (GoA) departments in achieving business goals and objectives. The 
division is responsible for operating secure, resilient technology infrastructure, as well as 
maintaining government systems and enabling modernization through cloud services and 
infrastructure management.  

The division is also responsible for providing IT services and support to all government staff, 
including computing services, mobile devices, and productivity tools. This includes financial and 
procurement support using standard practices and policies, to effectively manage IT investment 
within government. Additional responsibilities include overseeing daily operations of the SuperNet 
and implementing and maintaining a strategy to ensure all Albertans have access to high-quality 
broadband services, allowing them to access digital government services and participate in the 
global digital economy.  

TSO provides services that underpin and enable daily business operations in all departments, 
maintaining legacy systems while ensuring ongoing integration with data and digital solutions. 

Key Highlights 
• Transition to the government’s new contract for SuperNet services with Bell Canada was 

completed in the 2022-23 fiscal year encompassing 3,758 transitions. The new contract 
provides significant improvements. This will drive efficiency, continuous improvement of 
services and streamline contract management and operations. 

• The ministry continued to modernize the delivery of governement services, improve the 
quality and consistency of citizen experience, and create foundations to respond quickly to 
emerging priorities. Examples of programs include the Kananaskis Park Pass project, Clare’s 
Law project, Roadside Planning Tracking Hub project, Land Use Reservation program, and 
preventative social service programs in communities through the Family and Community 
Support Services program. 

Cybersecurity 
The Cybersecurity Division oversees the security of all digital assets for the Government of Alberta 
and works collaboratively with Alberta stakeholders to strengthen Alberta’s cybersecurity 
defenses.  

The mission of the division is to work in collaboration with ministries, public agencies, and external 
partners to protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of Alberta’s critical digital assets, 
thereby safeguarding Albertans and promoting the province's economic and social well-being.  

The vision for the cybersecurity program is to be the leading cybersecurity authority in Alberta and 
a recognized national leader, facilitating a strong Alberta cybersecurity posture, and leading to a 
safe and secure Alberta cyberspace that Albertans can trust to conduct their business. 
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Key Highlights 

• An average of 78 million attempts to connect to the GoA network every day were denied 
based on their origin or the potential to do harm to GoA systems or data. 

• To assist Albertans with reporting vulnerabilities more easily, the division created a new 
Application Vulnerability Reporting Standard and a vulnerability reporting portal. Third 
parties now have access to an online form to report vulnerabilities found in any GoA system. 

• The division implemented a new state-of-the-art tool to detect and mitigate fraudulent 
activities while using GoA digital services. The new tool prevented two significant digital 
fraud campaigns against the GoA’s Student Aid system and the Affordability program.  

Digital Design and Delivery 
Digital Design and Delivery (DDD) is responsible for the design and delivery of digital services for 
Albertans in partnership with Government of Alberta ministries. The division partners with 
ministries to design simpler, faster and better services; builds capability and confidence in modern 
digital practice to help the Alberta Government become a leading digital delivery organization; and 
ensures service quality and value through ongoing measurement, processes and standards. 

Key Highlights 

• The Affordability Application Portal was launched in January 2023 using agile project 
management and in-house expertise and resources.  Within the first 24 hours of the portal 
opening, more than 140,000 applications were successfully processed for payment. Over 
one million Albertans enrolled through the Portal and the program processed over $472 
million in Affordability Payments to Albertans.  

• The Adjournment Digital Service (ADS) enables online adjournments in adult criminal 
courts. Lawyers can submit their request on a computer or tablet at their convenience and 
receive information within minutes that their request has been granted or denied. This 
improves access to justice for accused persons and counsel, and creates efficiencies for 
Judges, prosecutors, and clerks. More than 32,000 adjournment requests have been 
processed through ADS to date.  

• The Surrogate Digital Service provides family members and friends of a deceased Albertan a 
faster, more convenient and user-friendly way to apply to the court for the grant that 
enables them to deal with the estate online. Lawyers will use the service to assist Albertans 
complete their applications online and submit documentation for review by the Court of 
King’s Bench before receiving the downloadable Grant of Probate. In the last year, more 
than 4,300 grants have been issued and released to Counsel. 

Data, Privacy and Innovation 

The Data, Privacy and Innovation Division advances strategies and policies related to the delivery of 
data, content management, technology, innovation and privacy related programs and services. The 
division is responsible for providing government-wide strategic direction and guidance on 
information management, personal information protection, and advancing the innovation 
ecosystem in Alberta.  
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In addition, the division is responsible for ensuring that Alberta Innovates and Alberta Enterprise 
Corporation continue to facilitate research, innovation, entrepreneurship, and the venture capital to 
support economic growth and diversification in the province. 
 
Key Highlights 

• In 2022-23 over 5,500 Alberta government publications were added to the Open 
Government Portal. There were 3.3 million downloads and almost 8.5 million records 
viewed in the Open Government Portal. 

• The division digitized 407,178 pages of physical records. Digitizing records, minimizing 
paper consumption, and recycling activities resulted in saving 29,415 trees and 3,321 cubic 
meters of waste reduced from landfills. 

• In 2022, the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy (ATIS) was launched. The ATIS 
outlines Alberta’s strategy to align efforts, resources, and priorities to grow a robust 
technology and innovation sector, with the aim to create 20,000 new jobs and see Alberta 
technology companies generate an additional $5 billion in annual revenue by 2030.  

Alberta Innovates 

Alberta Innovates is the Government of Alberta’s primary research and innovation agency.  Its 
mandate is to support and accelerate Alberta’s research, innovation and entrepreneurship in 
Alberta through commercialization to drive provincial economic growth and diversity. Alberta 
Innovates delivers seed funding, business advice, applied research and technical services, and 
avenues for partnership and collaboration, including two applied research subsidiaries: C-FER 
Technologies and InnoTech Alberta. 

Key Highlights 

• Alberta Innovates is home to the Hydrogen Centre of Excellence which is helping support a 
low-carbon future while maintaining a strong energy industry. 

• Alberta Innovates provides ongoing supports to small and medium-sized enterprises and 
entrepreneurs with technology commercialization advice, mentorship and access to 
programs and equipment.  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
The Alberta Enterprise Corporation (AEC) is a provincial agency mandated to ensure that venture 
capital is available to support the development of knowledge-based industries in Alberta. AEC 
invests in venture capital funds that are strongly committed to Alberta (including having a presence 
in the province) and that invest in technology companies. In addition to co-investing in venture 
capital funds, AEC supports Alberta’s venture capital ecosystem by connecting investors, 
entrepreneurs, and experienced technology executives.  

Key Highlights 

• During 2022-23, AEC continued to focus on attracting investment into Alberta companies 
through Start Alberta (startalberta.ca), which is a platform that provides information on 
Alberta’s technology ecosystem, including information on agencies and venture capitalists 
active in the province and a single location to find service providers, accelerators and 
incubators that support their entrepreneurial journey.  

https://albertainnovates.ca/focus-areas/entrepreneurial-investments/
https://albertainnovates.ca/focus-areas/entrepreneurial-investments/
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• For every $1 AEC invests, more than $5 is invested in Alberta companies. AEC’s funds and 
their partners have already invested over $1 billion into 76 Alberta companies.  

• Venture Capital investments have led to over 2,800 direct jobs and over 13,000 indirect jobs 
since AEC’s inception in 2008. Over the same period, AEC has provided over $330 million in 
investment, which has been leveraged to create access to more than $4.5 billion in capital 
for Alberta knowledge-based companies.    
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Discussion and Analysis of Results  

Actions that support the priorities of the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan   
 

 

 

Priority One:   
Enhancing government services now and for the future 

Objective Three: Supporting Albertans most in need 

Detailed reporting found on page 12 (Employment Supports, Affordability Application Portal) 

Priority One:   
Enhancing government services now and for the future 

Objective Four: Enhancing the justice system to make it fairer, faster and more effective 

Detailed reporting found on page 19 (Filing Digital Service) 

Priority One:   
Enhancing government services now and for the future 

Objective Seven: Building better communities 

Detailed reporting found on pages 18 (Digital Strategy), 19 (Data Strategy) and 20 (Broadband 
Services) 

Priority Two:   
Growing Alberta’s economy 

Objective One: Attracting investment and growing the economy 

Detailed reporting found on pages 13, 27, 31 (Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy) and 
28 (Clean Hydrogen Centre of Excellence)  
Priority Two:   
Growing Alberta’s economy 

Objective Three: Reducing Red Tape 

Detailed reporting found on page 16  
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Red Tape Reduction  
The Ministry of Technology and Innovation remains committed to regulatory approaches and 
program delivery that reduces unnecessary government oversight and emphasizes outcomes, in 
order to improve access to government services, attract investment, support innovation and 
competitiveness, and grow Alberta businesses.  

In the past year, the ministry has worked on various initiatives to support red tape reduction: 

• Achieved the highest reduction rate in the GoA by reducing red tape by over 63%. 

• Conducted a complete review of policies and forms for Alberta Innovates resulting in the 
elimination of 16,698 regulatory items.  

• Worked with strategic partners to adopt a common platform across the government, which 
has improved communication, streamlined processes, enhanced data security, supported 
remote work, and enabled collaboration. Over 130 electronic forms were eliminated, and 
approximately 50 were converted to web-based forms to address browser issues, 
contributing to the red tape reduction initiative. 

• The ministry has introduced the Aboriginal Consultation Office (ACO) Digital Service, which 
is a custom-built solution that enables corporate proponents and Indigenous communities 
to access and manage consultation applications and file information, making the 
consultation process more efficient, effective, and transparent. The digital service has 
helped ACO staff complete over 7,400 consultation decisions since its release in April 2022. 
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COVID-19/Recovery Plan  
In December 2021, to help in the fight against COVID-19 and future infectious disease outbreaks 
while growing Alberta’s pharmaceutical and life sciences sector, GoA launched a Vaccine 
Manufacturing Program and subsequently awarded $81.2 million to four proponents: the 
University of Alberta, Entos Pharmaceuticals, Northern RNA, and Applied Pharmaceutical 
Innovations.  The overarching goal is to enhance the province’s vaccine development and 
biomanufacturing capacity.  
  
The program is a one-time program with no immediate plans to launch another competition, with 
funding disbursements competed in 2022-23 to the following recipients: 
 

• $55.1 million to the University of Alberta (UofA) to support vaccine related research and 
development. 
 

• $5.6 million to Applied Pharmaceutical Innovation (API) to build an integrated research, 
commercialization and manufacturing cluster in Edmonton. 

• $15.5 million to Entos Pharmaceuticals (Entos) to establish a commercial manufacturing 
facility in Edmonton. 

• $5 million to Northern RNA (NRNA) to help build the RNA manufacturing ecosystem in 
Calgary.  

 
Funding for API, Entos and NRNA was contingent on partner funding which included federal 
funding. In 2022, all proponents secured approvals from funding partners that include the federal 
Innovation Science and Economic Development as well as Prairies Economic Development Canada 
and have commenced their respective projects. This amounts to over $230 million in overall 
investment attracted to the province through this program.  
   
This investment supports establishment of a research, development, and commercialization cluster 
in the province, attracting investment, encouraging the growth of spinoff industries, and creating 
jobs. This project also aligns with the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy, by supporting 
talented people who would commercialize their ideas to create companies and new sectors for the 
province.  This investment will diversify Alberta’s economy as the world recovers from the COVID-
19 pandemic and economic downturn, increase productivity and create a more resilient economic 
future for all Albertans  
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Content related to the Service Alberta Business Plan 2022-25 

Outcome One: Government is modernized  
In 2022-23, the ministry accomplished several key objectives directed toward achieving this 
outcome. 

Key Objectives 

1.1 Based on best practices of global digital leaders, develop and implement a digital 
strategy that ensures all new systems are digital by default and improve Albertans’ 
access to government services.  

• Technology and Innovation has advanced work on the Government of Alberta Digital 
Strategy. The Digital Strategy will lay out a vision for how to align the people, processes, and 
technologies needed to deliver world-class digital services to Albertans that are easy to use, 
fast, efficient and secure. In doing so, the government will further position Alberta as a 
technology and innovation hub that attracts digital talent and creates opportunities for all 
Albertans to contribute, thrive and succeed in the digital economy.  

• Elements of the strategy implementation will emphasize several priorities including: 

o Directing investments into services that have the greatest impact on Albertans.  

o Taking steps to minimize significant investments in aging IT systems and sustaining 
or replacing those systems when required.  

o Setting Digital Service Standards to ensure a standard of service and transparency 
that reflects best practices in digital service delivery.  

1.2 Reduce red tape, and associated time and financial costs of compliance to make it 
easier for individuals and businesses to operate in Alberta.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Key Objective.  

1.3 Modernize the government’s technology infrastructure, business applications and 
internal government services to generate efficiencies and improve productivity 
through innovation.  

An increasing number of GoA services use verified Alberta.ca Accounts. Having verified user 
accounts helps government deliver secure online services Albertans want and expect. When 
Albertans choose to access government services online, a verified account proves their identity the 
same way an ID card or driver’s license does in person.  

Many online services are optional. Albertans can choose whether they would like to access 
government services online, in person, or by phone.  

During the launch and operation of the Alberta Affordability Portal, a number of user experience 
challenges were identified by Albertans with the Alberta.ca Account. As a result, in early 2023, the 
ministry made usability and security enhancements to the Alberta.ca Account system. This feedback 
reinforces the need to continuously improve our services, and additional efforts will be undertaken 
in 2023-24 to address the challenges and improve the Alberta.ca account user experience.   
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The ministry has also worked towards modernizing government technology in the following ways: 

• Consolidated 75 contact centres into a single standard Call Centre solution that has 
standardized capabilities in delivering services to citizens and created a consistent citizen 
approach for Albertans. This modernization has led to advanced capabilities such as 
Artificial Intelligence, text messaging, and social media channel engagement with citizens.  

• TI also continued work on the Enterprise Digital platform, rolling out Virtual Agent and Live 
Agents in the Enterprise Service Management program, enabling automated responses to 
users to defer from the Service Desk and provide a quicker response to users.  

• In 2022-23, there were 50 product teams working in partnership with 13 ministries to 
collaboratively deliver modern digital services. These teams are leading efforts to design 
citizen-centred government services across the province. Some key examples of these 
digital services are: 

o Compass – a suite of digital tools designed to provide better access and self-serve 
options for Albertans in need of social supports. The tools are used by Albertans to 
apply for Assured Income for the Severely Handicapped (AISH) and Income and 
Employment Supports (IES). The easy-to-use online applications have enabled 
Albertans to apply for these programs from anywhere, using a computer or mobile 
device.  

o Filing Digital Service – this is the first entirely new digital court service in Alberta, 
eliminating the paper file and related process. Since the release of this service in 
June 2022, Albertans have submitted more than 4,500 applications (through legal 
counsel) and more than 3,700 grants of probate have been issued. This service has 
eliminated approximately 16,000 visits to courthouses.   

• The GoA has a Cloud First strategy, where cloud services are considered primarily before 
seeking other solutions where cloud hosting may not be appropriate. The GoA Cloud 
Enablement Program supports and enables this strategy to progress forward. 

• Implemented a new state-of-the-art tool to prevent and detect fraudulent activities against 
GoA digital services.  

• Completed the modernization of the monitoring and response toolset, shifting the security 
posture from reacting to incidents to responding and managing threats proactively, before 
incidents occur, thereby providing greater data security and improving systems availability.   

Forward Looking Information  

Going forward, the ministry will focus on completing the following initiatives in support of desired 
Outcome One: 

• Continue and complete the Alberta.ca Account transformation to ensure Alberta.ca 
Accounts are in alignment with the GoA’s Digital Strategy, design system and visual identity 
standards.  

• Finalize and release a Digital Strategy and develop action plans for initiatives under the 
strategy to ensure the delivery of strategic initiatives align with the needs, values and 
expectations of Albertans.  
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• Continue modernizing the GoA Contact Centres to improve the user-experience for 
Albertans, and to enable better case management reporting and metrics.  

• Continue to enable new cloud platform services and applications allowing more 
applications to be built in a shorter time, increasing Albertans’ access to key services.   

• Continue to assess Alberta Broadband Fund (ABF) applications, conditionally approve 
eligible selected projects, and enter negotiations to enable signing Contribution Agreements 
and announcing Alberta-based broadband projects submitted under the ABF program. 

• Adapt and enhance security practices and processes, leveraging automation and artificial 
intelligence based monitoring and response where possible, to ensure that security controls 
are considered and implemented throughout the entire lifecycle of digital services.  

Initiatives Supporting Key Objectives  

In 2022-23, $10.1 million was allocated for registry transformation projects to modernize online 
services delivery for land, personal property, corporate, vital event, and motor vehicles registries. 
This includes enabling online renewals for Driver’s Licenses and Identification Cards and enabling 
vital event certificate and document ordering processes. 

• As part of the registry transformation projects to modernization online service delivery for 
motor vehicle registries, the ministry collaborated with the Consumer, Registry and 
Strategic Services Division of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction to enable Albertans 
to renew their Driver’s Licenses and Identification Cards online. The online renewal 
functionality was implemented through MyAlberta eServices in May 2022. An update to add 
support for renewal of recently expired licences was later added as well. 

• The ministry spent $108,800 to complete this initiative.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on the $10.1 million 
allocated for registry transformation projects. 

Over the next four years, Technology and Innovation will invest $390 million to improve broadband 
services across the province and ensure that rural, remote and Indigenous communities are 
included in the province’s economic recovery. 

• Alberta’s government has secured a dollar-for-dollar matching funding agreement with the 
federal government, making a total of $780 million in public funding available to improve 
internet for Albertans over the next four years.  

• The $150 million allocated in 2022-23 was moved to 2023-24 as negotiations on a number 
of projects were completed just prior to the end of the fiscal year.   

• Technology and Innovation selected and conditionally approved over 60 Universal 
Broadband Fund (UBF) projects and is moving them toward signed contribution 
agreements.  

• The first funding allocation under UBF saw $70.6 million allocated to connect 10,400 homes 
in over 50 communities in September 2022, and the second in November 2022 for $2.6 
million to connect 300 homes in Tsuut’ina Nation.   
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• The department launched the Alberta Broadband Fund (ABF) program in December 2022 
to ensure no Albertans are left behind after completion of Alberta-based UBF projects. The 
ABF was allocated $36 million from the $390 million of committed broadband funding. The 
first intake under the ABF closed March 20, 2023 and evaluations of the initial submissions 
are currently underway.  

 
Performance Measures 

Performance Measure 1.a: Number of services released on modern digital platforms 
including MyAlberta eServices  

Description 

This measure tracks the number of services available on modern digital platforms, including 
MyAlberta eServices, which provides Albertans with another way to access government services 
and programs.  

Results and Analysis 

The target of 130 services available online was met, with 134 services available in 2022-23, 
improving accessibility of government services to Albertans. 

Number of services released on modern digital platforms including MyAlberta eServices 

Year 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Number of services 
released 

101 126 134 

Source: Technology and Innovation, Digital Design and Delivery Division  

Technology and Innovation continues to increase the number of services available, allowing more 
Albertans to access government services online more easily.  

Content related to the Service Alberta Business Plan 2022-25 

Outcome Two: Data and information management is enhanced  
Technology and Innovation achieved several results to enhance data and information management. 

Key Objectives 

2.1 Modernize the way government’s data and information is managed, which includes the 
use of enhanced data analytics, and by introducing common and consistent ways of 
classification, organization, and access.  

• Implementation of a common platform (M365), including Enterprise Content Management 
Systems, continued in 2022-23 to modernize government’s information management tools 
that enhance the way government manages information. As part of implementation, the 
ministry analyzed over 35% of government business processes to identify the content 
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created and continued to expand the centralized eDiscovery Service focusing on defensible 
discovery and litigation outcomes across the GoA. With the improved functionality as part 
of the common platform, processes such as eDiscovery and legal hold will be easier to 
administer, and GoA staff will have access to simplified, accurate records management 
processes.  

• Continued implementation of the Content Management Initiative (CMI) to revolutionize 
government record-keeping from a subject based to a functional based classification of 
records. The development and implementation of the Functional Classification Taxonomy 
(FCT) continued and is 70% complete. Over 1,000 SharePoint online sites were created in 
government to allow content to be classified consistently to the FCT. 

• Continued implementation of the Data Strategy; the Government of Alberta’s vision of 
realizing the full potential of Alberta’s data for the benefit of Albertans, while respecting 
privacy.  

• The one government eXperience (1GX) Information Lifecycle Management allows for the 
archiving of old and stale technical data files to make the 1GX environment leaner in size 
and able to process jobs in a more efficient and timely manner. 

• Leverage artificial intelligence in combination with data collected by security monitoring 
systems to automate and orchestrate cybersecurity response controls, ensuring that threats 
are managed proactively before incidents occur.  

Forward Looking Information  

Going forward, the ministry will focus on completing the following initiatives in support of desired 
Outcome Two: 

• Continue M365 multi-year program to rollout products to all GoA staff, which is expected to 
continue to September 2023. Each product will be configured to meet GoA standards and 
rolled out to GoA staff along with training and communications programs.  

• Continue implementation of the Content Management Initiative and other key initiatives 
that modernize the management of content across the GoA (e.g. content inventories, 
functional classification taxonomy mapping, modern electronic disposition process, and 
metric reporting). 

• Continue the development of the GoA Data Strategy, with a goal to implement a modernized 
and consistent approach to managing and governing data and information; innovate the use 
of data within government, industry and academic partners to improve economic and social 
outcomes with improved data quality; and standardize and strengthen data and information 
policy, privacy, and security protection.  

• Work closely with the Public Service Commission to design, build and implement a single 
Talent Management System (TMS), which will be fully integrated in the 1GX solution. 
Digitizing and streamlining the talent management process through a single TMS will 
generate efficiencies and improvements for core human capital processes such as 
performance management and succession planning. 
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Initiatives Supporting Key Objectives  

In 2022-23, $5.4 million was targeted to modernize government’s information management tools, 
including implementation of M365 and Enterprise Content Management systems, which will 
enhance the way government manages information. Last year, $3 million was spent on this 
initiative.  

• The M365 program has rolled out various services to all staff: 

• Power BI and Sway offered new reporting and communication tools. 

• External sharing capabilities to further enhance the collaboration capabilities of the GoA 
with its partners. 

• Microsoft Defender for Cloud Apps, which introduced new security functionality to protect 
the GoA from unauthorized applications. 

• Supported the Content Management Initiative to confirm the information managed by all 
departments, to assist with the development of the functional classification categories, and 
retention schedule modernization. 

• The Content Management Initiative will establish SharePoint Online as the enterprise 
content management platform, and the official GoA document repository.  

• SharePoint requires staff to identify classification and records management as part of 
document sharing. 

• By leveraging existing M365 tools, GoA was able to avoid significant costs associated with 
implementing a separate content and records management platform.  

• The 1GX solution will support data and information management by adopting new and 
modern solutions integrating GoA business processes into the solutions. The projects will 
include reporting, analytics, and data warehousing.  

In 2022-23, $4.5 million was allocated to initiate development of a new Data Strategy; the 
Government of Alberta’s vision of realizing the full potential of Alberta’s data for the benefit of 
Albertans, while respecting privacy. $2.8 million was spent last year on the initiatives. A $1.7 
million surplus was incurred primarily due to in-year vacancies as a result of hiring delays.  

• The government wide Data Strategy will optimize how government manages data to create 
greater organizational insights, make more informed and timely decisions, advance data-driven 
innovation, and support economic growth and diversification. The Data Strategy benefits 
Albertans by improving public services, attracting new companies and investment to Alberta, 
and creating jobs.  

• As part of implementation, work began on a data ethics framework and a privacy management 
framework; these frameworks will also be leveraged when considering data collection, use, 
storage and disclosure. Investment was also made in hiring specialized staff for implementation 
of modern data technology that will integrate disparate data from multiple sources. A data 
secretariat and related processes and tools were also created to support better use of 
government data.  
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Performance Measures 

Performance Measure 2.a: Total number of visits to the Open Government Portal  

Description 

The Open Government Portal is an easy way to access government data and publications, 
encouraging citizen engagement and increasing government transparency. This measure tracks the 
number of visits to the Open Government Portal.  

Results and Analysis 
In 2022-23, there were over 15.5 million visits to the Open Government Portal, which significantly 
exceeded the target of 5 million. 

Total number of visits to the Open Government Portal 

Year 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 

Number of Visits  12,334,688  16,483,463  15,560,389  

Source: Technology and Innovation, Data, Privacy and Innovation Division 

The ministry will continue to track the results and update the target as the trend of the data 
changes.  

Content related to the Jobs, Economy and Innovation Business Plan 

Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economy and growth   
Key Objectives 

2.4 Increase venture capital investment in Alberta Companies through the Alberta 
Enterprise Corporation.  

• The Alberta Enterprise Corporation (AEC) is a provincial agency mandated to ensure that 
venture capital is available to support the development of knowledge-based industries in 
Alberta. AEC invests in venture capital funds that are strongly committed to Alberta 
(including having a presence in the province) and that invest in technology companies. In 
addition to investing in venture capital funds, AEC supports Alberta’s venture capital 
ecosystem by connecting investors, entrepreneurs and experienced technology executives.  

• AEC investments are long-term. Since its launch in 2008, the AEC has provided $326 million 
(CDN) in investment to thirty-one venture capital funds across the province. By investing 
strategically, the AEC has leveraged these capital commitments to create access to more 
than $4.5 billion in capital for Alberta knowledge-based companies.  

• AEC has invested into numerous venture capital funds over the course of 2022-23, including 
but not limited to, Sprout, Alpaca, Evok Innovation, Relay Ventures, PillarFour and Inovia.  
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Forward Looking Information  

Going forward, the ministry will focus on completing the following initiatives: 

• AEC will continue to attract investment into Alberta technology companies through 
investing in venture capital funds that are strongly committed to Alberta.  

• Continue to support Alberta’s venture capital ecosystem by connecting investors, 
entrepreneurs and technology executives.   

Performance Measures 

Performance Measure 2.a: Cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted 
venture capital funds (and their syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses ($ 
millions)  

Description 

Access to capital enables Alberta businesses to start up and grow, which supports economic growth 
and diversification. Alberta Enterprise Corporation (AEC) is a fund-of-funds that invests in venture 
capital funds and angel co-investment funds that subsequently invest in technology companies. This 
is the cumulative value of investments made by AEC’s venture-capital funds and their syndicate 
partners into Alberta companies.  

Results and Analysis 

The target for 2022-23 was set to achieve $856 million of AEC cumulative investment (including 
AEC funds and syndicate partners) into Alberta companies. The actual result for 2022-23 was 
$1,131 million, exceeding the target by 32 percent. The results confirmed that for every $1 invested 
by AEC, venture capital funds and their syndicate partners invest more than $5.40 into Alberta 
companies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
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Performance Indicator 2.b.: Total Value of Venture Capital Investment in Alberta ($ millions)  

Description 

This indicator measures the value of venture capital investment in Alberta. Venture capital is a 
critical component of growing the technology sector and innovation by providing equity financing 
to start-ups, driving long-term economic growth and diversification.  

Results and Analysis 

According to the Canadian Venture Capital Private Equity Association, Alberta saw a record amount 
of investments in 2022, with $729 million invested across 85 deals. The highest number of deals 
were concentrated in the information, communications and technology sector. 

 
Source: Canadian Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (CVCA) 

For the fifth year in a row, Alberta has broken venture capital investment attraction records 
according to the Canadian Venture Capital Private Equity Association’s Quarter 4 2022 report. 
According to this report, Alberta had its best fourth quarter on record with $220 million invested 
into tech companies across 85 deals worth $729 million. Alberta continues to rank as Canada’s 
fourth largest tech hub, with Calgary being the fourth most active city for number of deals (64) and 
deal amount ($647 million); while Edmonton came in seventh for number of deals (18) and tenth 
for invested dollars ($58 million).  

Content related to the Service Alberta Business Plan 2022-25 

Outcome Three: Consumers are protected and a competitive business environment is 
preserved   
Key Objectives 

3.1 Improve consumer protection through education, inspections, investigations, 
enforcement actions and effective legislation.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Key Objective. 
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3.2 Balance effective industry regulation and protection of consumer interests while 
enhancing governance and reducing unnecessary red tape.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Key Objective.  

3.3 Improve access to timely and efficient consumer dispute resolutions.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Key Objective.  

3.4 Ensure registry services are run in an efficient and effective manner.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Key Objective.  

Initiatives Supporting Key Objectives  

In 2022-23, $82,000 is allocated to implement the final pieces of a prompt payment system, which 
will streamline payments and provide quick dispute resolution processes for the construction 
industry.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Initiative. 

In 2022-23, $9.1 million is allocated to improve the Land Titles service model to reduce application 
backlogs.  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Initiative. 

Performance Measures 

Performance Measure 3.a: Percentage of investigations into alleged consumer protection 
legislation violations completed within established timelines  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Performance 
Measure. 

Performance Measure 3.b: Percentage of urgent tenancy dispute resolutions completed 
within established timelines  

• The ministry of Service Alberta and Red Tape Reduction is reporting on this Performance 
Measure. 

Content related to the Jobs, Economy and Innovation Business Plan 2022-25 

Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its strengths  
Key Objectives 

3.1 Lead implementation of the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy (ATIS) to set 
the direction of the province’s technology and innovation system.  
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• The ATIS was released in April 2022.  The goal of the ATIS is to establish the province as a 
hub that develops and attracts talent, business, and investment to grow the technology 
sector and diversify Alberta’s economy.  

• The government partnered with AltaML in April 2022 to launch GovLab.ai, the first 
provincially funded, public-sector artificial intelligence (AI) lab. Under the Applied AI lab, 
AltaML will work alongside government, post-secondary students and graduates to develop 
industry-relevant AI products that draw investment into the province and drive operational 
efficiencies in key industries.  

• Technology and Innovation is also working with the ministry of Advanced Education to 
develop an intellectual property commercialization framework to foster greater 
commercialization of innovative research developed by Alberta’s post-secondary 
institutions and local industry, leading to economic and social benefits. 

3.2 Provide innovation and commercialization programming, including through Alberta 
Innovates.  

Alberta Innovates supports researchers, small and medium-sized enterprises, and industry. The 
agency plays a key role in diversifying Alberta’s economy, nurturing new technology development, 
and attracting investment and new opportunities to the province. It does so through programs 
focused on five areas of significant economic opportunity for the province: 

Smart Agriculture: 

• Ten successful projects received $3.19 million through Alberta Innovates’ second Smart 
Agriculture and Food Digitalization and Automation Challenge. The projects, announced in May 
2022, are aimed at developing or advancing smart technologies to increase productivity, reduce 
production costs or increase the value of Alberta’s agri-food products.   

• The Canadian Agri-food Automation and Intelligence Network is a $100 million initiative 
connecting technology, research and agri-food companies with producers through networks 
across the country. Alberta Innovates provides the strategic direction, operational secretariat 
and expert headquarters as a key member of the network. 

Digital Health: 

• In December 2022, Alberta Blue Cross and Alberta Innovates formed a strategic partnership to 
connect entrepreneurs and researchers who have innovative digital health solutions to support 
the prevention and management of chronic disease and mental health. 

• In February 2023, Alberta Innovates and Alberta Health Services announced $9.5 million in 
digital health funding under the Partnership for Research and Innovation in the Health System 
(PRIHS) program to provide promising solutions to priority health system challenges.  

Clean Resource Technologies: 

• Alberta Innovates is home to the Hydrogen Centre of Excellence which is helping support a low-
carbon future while maintaining a strong energy industry. Its first competition awarded $20 
million to 18 successful projects, including initiatives examining the safe and effective use of 
pipelines for hydrogen as well as converting long-haul trucks to dual-fuel engines. 

https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/agri-food-innovation/smart-agriculture-and-food-digitalization-and-automation-challenge/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/agri-food-innovation/smart-agriculture-and-food-digitalization-and-automation-challenge/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/agri-food-innovation/smart-agriculture-and-food-digitalization-and-automation-challenge/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/agri-food-innovation/smart-agriculture-and-food-digitalization-and-automation-challenge/
https://caain.ca/
https://albertainnovates.ca/impact/newsroom/alberta-improves-bone-care-through-digital-health-research/
https://albertainnovates.ca/impact/newsroom/alberta-improves-bone-care-through-digital-health-research/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/hydrogen-centre-of-excellence/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/advancing-hydrogen-competition-one/
https://albertainnovates.ca/impact/newsroom/20-million-in-hydrogen-funding-awarded-by-the-hydrogen-centre-of-excellence/
https://albertainnovates.ca/impact/newsroom/20-million-in-hydrogen-funding-awarded-by-the-hydrogen-centre-of-excellence/
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• InnoTech Alberta is continuing to test and develop technologies to seal and reclaim abandoned 
oil and gas wells, preventing leaks of methane and other gases. In 2022 this work was assisted by 
an additional $1.2 million from the Clean Resource Innovation Network (CRIN). 

Artificial Intelligence: 

• In March of 2023, Alberta Innovates and the Ministry of Technology and Innovation announced a 
$30 million investment in the Alberta Machine Intelligence Institute (Amii) to continue building 
Alberta’s artificial intelligence talent pipeline and accelerate commercialization. The continued 
funding for Amii will attract investment and create jobs in Alberta’s fast-growing tech sector 

Entrepreneurial Ecosystem: 

• Alberta Innovates provides ongoing supports to small and medium-sized Enterprises and 
entrepreneurs with technology commercialization advice, mentorship and access to programs 
and equipment. Eight Regional Innovation Networks across the province received a boost of 
$18.7 million over three years in 2022. 

• The Scaleup and Growth Accelerator program engaged five global and local accelerator 
organizations to assist dozens of companies to move from start-up to large companies, since 
launching in 2022. This is possible through a consortium of municipal, provincial and federal 
funding partners who have invested as much as $35 million for the program.  

3.3 Incent investment in research and development to build the province’s innovative 
capacity.  

• The Research Capacity Program (RCP), a competitive funding program, funded projects via 
the 2022 Small Equipment Grants stream including: 

o a University of Alberta project to develop and commercialize artificial intelligence 
assisted technology to aid in better understanding of infectious diseases and 
dementia;  

o a University of Calgary project that will drive innovation in underwater robotics to 
inform climate change mitigation techniques; and 

o a University of Lethbridge project that will employ quantum science and machine 
learning to advance treatment and prevention of cancers and neurological 
disorders. 

• In 2022-23, the Major Innovation Fund (MIF) funded four highly collaborative, outcome-
focused projects for approval, for a total of $27.3 million over four years. The funding 
leverages $41.0 million from institutions, industry, federal government, and non-profit 
organizations. The recommended projects will advance the outcomes of the ATIS by 
optimizing innovation; developing pre-commercialization ready technologies; and 
diversifying Alberta’s economy in key areas of priority.  

• The Strategic Research Initiatives (SRI) supports capacity to drive talent, technology, and 
innovation, enabling a future-ready workforce with skills to diversify and grow Alberta’s 
economy in alignment with the ATIS. In 2022 TI invested in the Banff International 
Research Station (BIRS) to support talent attraction to Alberta, further promote BIRS as an 
international destination to pursue mathematically informed innovation concepts and 

https://innotechalberta.ca/news/cement-alternatives-could-address-environmental-challenges-of-abandoned-wells/
https://albertainnovates.ca/programs/alberta-scaleup-and-growth-accelerators-program/
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attract economic activity and investment to the province. TI’s investment of $3.9 million 
over five years in BIRS projects allowed it to leverage over $13.5 million in partner funding 
and contribute to hundreds of industry relevant training opportunities, and thousands of 
internationally acclaimed researcher visitors, all which interact with Alberta’s established 
research talent to advance Alberta’s priorities as articulated in the ATIS. 

3.4 Facilitate the movement of Alberta goods, people and ideas by leveraging innovation 
and technology.  

In May 2022, the government introduced the four-year, $20-million Innovation Catalyst Grant (ICG) 
program. The ICG Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities (CARU) stream is a pan-
Alberta entrepreneurial fellowship designed to support recent graduates (master’s or PhD) in 
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) in commercializing innovative science-
based technologies with a hardware component. The ICG CARU stream is administered by partner 
universities with participation and oversight by TI.  

The program provides successful applicants (fellows) a two-year commercialization runway.  There 
are four annual intake windows in 2022, 2023, 2024 and 2025. Successful applicants will receive up 
to $250,000 per two-year commercialization period, which includes an annual stipend and seed 
budget for technical and business activities.  

The ICG program is one of the Government of Alberta’s targeted investment actions under the ATIS 
and aims to increase Alberta’s talent pool; attract investment in technology; advance 
commercialization; strengthen system optimization; and enhance Alberta’s reputation in the 
technology and innovation sector.  

For the 2022 ICG program intake, nine Alberta fellows were awarded grants through the University 
of Alberta, University of Calgary, and University of Lethbridge, in the amount of $250,000 each, to 
support the commercialization of their innovative science-based research. Stakeholders have 
reacted positively to the ICG program due to its investment and support of entrepreneurs. 

3.5 Build on and promote Alberta’s emerging platforms in the pharmaceuticals and life 
sciences sector through the implementation of a Pharmaceutical and Life Sciences 
Strategy.  

Alberta has made significant investments to grow the pharmaceutical and life sciences sector in 
Alberta including $20 million to the Li Ka Shing Applied Virology Institute at the University of 
Alberta and a commitment of up to $81.2 million to support vaccine development and 
biomanufacturing.  

These investments are already paying off and delivering follow-on investment to the province. One 
example is Applied Pharmaceutical Innovation (API), a recipient of a $5.6 million from the 
Government of Alberta as an initial investment toward a project that leveraged that funding to 
secure $80.5 million in additional funding from the Government of Canada for the Canadian Critical 
Drug Initiative (CCDI). The CCDI will create a new facility to produce new and critical medicines, the 
first of its kind in Western Canada. 

Forward Looking Information  

Going forward, the ministry will focus on completing the following initiatives in support of desired 
Outcome Three: 
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• Support the implementation of the Alberta Technology and Innovation Strategy to 
accelerate the growth of Alberta’s technology and innovation sector, setting the high-level 
direction for innovation ecosystem partners.  

• Support the mission of GovLab.ai to build a sustainable innovation practice that will launch 
products powered by data and artificial intelligence to benefit Albertans and government, 
while accelerating economic prosperity and making Alberta a destination of choice for 
innovators and start-ups looking to leverage AI for economic development.  

Initiatives Supporting Key Objectives  

$73 million will be provided over three years for implementation of Alberta Technology and 
Innovation Strategy with funding to accelerate talent development and commercialization of 
technologies in the areas of priority such as Artificial Intelligence and quantum science. $24.5 
million was spent on this initiative this past year.  

• The ATIS outlines Alberta’s strategy to align efforts, resources and priorities while 
leveraging existing strengths, building on ongoing initiatives, and setting a path that 
strengthens the foundational elements needed to grow a robust technology and innovation 
sector. In addition to setting broad direction, the ATIS outlines specific commitments to 
support enabling technologies, such as artificial intelligence, quantum science and other 
sectors, where Alberta has a global competitive advantage. 

• Government is investing $17 million between 2022 and 2027 into GovLab.ai. In the first 
year, $3 million has been committed under ATIS as the GovLab.ai is part of the broader 
efforts that recognize the value and importance of emerging technologies to strengthen 
Alberta’s technology and innovation sector.  

• Government investments in AI-based solutions serve to advance technologies developed at 
Alberta post-secondary institutions that are industry-relevant, drive operational efficiencies 
in key industries across the province by engaging services of local machine learning 
companies such as AltaML, and draw further investment into Alberta's innovation 
ecosystem by positioning the province as a hub of AI. 

• Quantum science investments position Alberta to be a leader in quantum-driven digital 
technologies, capturing the economic growth and jobs forecasted for this sector over the 
coming decades. These investments will also attract additional anchor multinational 
companies interested in commercializing quantum technologies. For example, the 
international firm, mPhasis, established their Canadian headquarters in Calgary, in part due 
to the quantum research talent that exists at the University.  

Performance Measures 

3.a Performance Measure: Sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta’s 
comprehensive academic and research universities ($ millions)  

Description 

This measure reflects research capability in the province through the success of Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities (previously referred to as Comprehensive 
Academic and Research Institutions) in attracting sponsored research funding from several 
sources. The results give an indication of the research capability, capacity and competitiveness of 
these institutions.  
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Results and Analysis 

Sponsored research revenue is generated annually based on information received from Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities from previous year activities and as such, the 
last actual data for reporting purposes is from the 2021-22 fiscal year. The target for 2021-22 was 
set to achieve $933 million of sponsored research revenue. The actual result for 2021-22 was 
$1,123 million, exceeding the target. The 2021-22 result increased by four per cent compared to the 
previous year’s revenue of $1,080 million. The $43 million increase in total sponsored research 
revenue was related to increased research revenue from endowment, other government (non-
federal, non-provincial) contributions. Endowment funding had the largest significant increase 
(55.46%) in 2021-22.  

Over the past 10 years, total sponsored research revenue shows an upward trend, with an average 
yearly increase of 4.23 per cent over that time. The results indicate the research capability, capacity 
and competitiveness of these institutions in attracting funding from various sources, including the 
federal government. This includes the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council, the 
Canadian Institutes for Health Research, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, the 
Indirect Costs of Research Program, and the Canada Foundation for Innovation. 

Source: Alberta’s Comprehensive Academic Research Universities Report, collected and analyzed by Technology and Innovation  

3.b. Performance Indicator: Growth of technology sector jobs (per cent)  
 
Description 

This indicator measures total job growth in the technology sector and is a key measure of success in 
developing the sector and of economic diversification. 

Results and Analysis 

In 2021, Alberta saw a relatively strong overall job recovery, increasing by 8.8 per cent. However, 
some health restrictions relating to COVID-19 were in place in 2021, and jobs had not recovered to 
pre-pandemic levels. Alberta’s technology sector, much less affected by health restrictions, saw jobs 
increase by 21.4 per cent to 49,185 in 2021.  

This rapid growth was primarily driven by a 23.1 per cent increase in the number of jobs in the 
computer systems design and related services sub-industry, which comprised 60.5 per cent of jobs 
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in the sector. The number of telecommunications jobs, which is the second largest sub-industry at 
25.0 per cent of technology sector jobs, increased by 20.2 per cent. Notably, data processing, 
hosting and related services saw the largest growth at 27.8 percent, but only accounts for 2.8 per 
cent of technology jobs. 

Source: Statistics Canada 
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Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology  

Performance Measure 1.a: Number of services available through MyAlberta eServices 
(Service Alberta Business Plan 2022-25) 

The number of services available through MyAlberta eServices is calculated by tracking the 
cumulative number of completed on-boarding projects consisting of a product (or products) that 
can be obtained using MyAlberta eServices. Some projects consist of only one product, while other 
projects may consist of a few different iterations of the same product, or even a wide range of 
products (e.g., apparel/merchandise). 

Performance Measure 2.a: Total number of visits to the Open Government Portal (Service 
Alberta Business Plan 2022-25) 

The number of visits is the total number of sessions within a selected date range, as calculated by 
Google Analytics. A session is a period of time when a user is actively engaged with a website. 
Active session terminates when the web browser is closed or after a specified period of inactivity. 

Performance Indicator 2.a: Cumulative value of Alberta Enterprise Corporation attracted 
venture capital funds (and their syndicate partners) invested in Alberta businesses ($ 
millions) (Jobs, Economy and Innovation Business Plan 2022-25) 

This measure is reported to the Government of Alberta by the Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
(AEC) as required by legislation (Alberta Enterprise Corporation Act, S. 14 Disclosure of 
Information), and the Transfer Agreement (S. 16 Reporting Requirements). The last actual number 
was collected from the latest available AEC Annual Report.  

AEC gathers information on investments from its venture capital firms as a condition of the Limited 
Partner (LP) Agreement between AEC and its venture capital funds. The value of AEC (venture 
capital funds and their syndicate partners) funds investment in Alberta business in aggregate to 
date is collected through the funds’ submissions.  

Performance Indicator 2.b: Total Value of Venture Capital Investment in Alberta ($millions) 
(Jobs, Economy and Innovation Business Plan 2022-25) 

Data are compiled from the Canadian Venture Capital & Private Equity Association (CVCA)’s Market 
Overview Reports. The CVCA released the 2022 year-end Venture Capital Canadian Market 
Overview Year in Review on February 22, 2023. The reports include verified completed, equity, 
quasi-equity venture capital and venture debt deals. Non-equity or project-based government 
funding, pharmaceutical development deals, venture capital-backed acquisitions, and angel 
financing are not included. The sectors include Information, Communication and Technology (ICT), 
Life Sciences, Cleantech, and Agribusiness.  

Performance Measure 3.a: Sponsored research revenue attracted by Alberta’s 
comprehensive academic and research universities ($ millions) (Jobs, Economy and 
Innovation Business Plan 2022-25) 

Sponsored research revenue data are collected directly from the Comprehensive Academic and 
Research Universities (CARUs). The CARUs submit the data using a template and guidelines that 
outline the information required and specific instructions regarding how the revenue should be 
reported. The guidelines provided to the CARUs by the ministry were developed to augment the 
guidelines in place for corresponding annual reporting submissions by the CARUs to the Canadian 
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Association of University Business Officers (CAUBO) to report on Total Sponsored Research 
Revenue at Alberta universities.  

CARUs are required to follow the CAUBO reporting guidelines for the appropriate year. The CARUs 
derive the data from audited financial statements and supplementary schedules. The reported data 
is compiled and analyzed by the ministry in the Sponsored Research Revenues at Alberta’s 
Comprehensive Academic and Research Universities report.  

Performance Indicator 3.b: Growth of technology sector jobs (%) (Jobs, Economy and 
Innovation Business Plan 2022-25) 

Data are extracted from Statistics Canada’s Table 36-10-0489-01: Labour statistics consistent with 
the System of National Accounts (SNA), by job category and industry. Data for the table comes from 
Statistics Canada’s annual provincial program of Canadian Productivity Accounts (CPA), which 
produces jobs, hours worked, labour compensation, and other metrics at the provincial and 
industry levels. Data on Alberta’s jobs from North American Industrial Classification System 
(NAICS) codes: 3341, 3342, 3244, 3245, 5112, 517, 518 and 5415, were compiled and calculated.  
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Reporting Entity and Method Consolidation   
The financial information is prepared in accordance with government’s stated accounting policies, 
which are based on Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards.  

The reporting entity is the ministry for which the Minister is accountable. The accounts of the 
ministry, which includes the department and the entities making up the ministry, are consolidated 
using the line-by-line method.  

Under this method, accounting policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to those 
of the government and the results of each line item in their financial statements (revenue, expense, 
assets, and liabilities) are included in government’s results. Revenue and expense, capital, investing 
and financing transactions and related asset and liability balances between the consolidated 
entities have been eliminated.  

A list of the individual entities making up the ministry are shown on the “Management’s 
Responsibility for Reporting” statement included in this annual report. 
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Ministry Financial Highlights  

Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited)  
End of the year March 31, 2023  
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Revenue and Expense Highlights  
Revenues  
• Revenues totaled $191.2 million in 2022-23, $9.17 million higher than the budget and 

reflecting an increase of $7.8 million from 2021-22. 
• Government of Alberta grants totaled $92.5 million. This amount includes $36.5 million from 

Alberta Heritage Science and Engineering Research Endowment Fund and $48.0 million 
from Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Endowment Fund, which was 
provided to Alberta Innovates to fund these program initiatives.  

• Federal grants received from the Government of Canada totaled $7.2 million, which is an 
increase of $1.8 million from 2021-22. 

• Other Revenue totaled $92.3 million, which includes costs of $44.1 million recovered for 
providing shared services to other ministries and external entities and $42 million of external 
revenue for Alberta Innovates.  
 

Expenses  
• Expenses were $176.2 million lower than the budgeted amount. This is attributed to: 

˗ $160.3 million unspent in Technology Support and Operations, of which $149 million is 
due to the delay in the Broadband initiative. This initiative is aimed at bringing high-speed 
internet connectivity to rural, remote and Indigenous communities of Alberta. There was 
also lower amortization expense of $30 million which was partially offset by a $36.8 million 
increase in approved IMT projects. 

˗ $22.7 million unspent in Data, Privacy and Innovation is mainly attributable to the 
Innovation Employment grant of $20 million, which was unspent by Treasury Board and 
Finance. 

˗ As part of the Quarterly Fiscal Updates, Treasury Board approved a $36.8 million increase 
in the Operating Expense Estimate. However, a Supplementary Estimate was not required 
because the department forecasted a lapse of $129.0 million in Capital Grants Estimate. 

• Expenses in 2022-23 totaled $910.6 million, reflecting an increase of $101.3 million from 
2021-22 actuals. 
˗ This is primarily due to an increase in funding related to vaccine development program 

$71 million and innovation employment program $41.9 million, partially off-set by a 
decrease in amortization expense.  

 
  



 

Financial Information 
 

 

40 Technology and Innovation | Annual Report 2022–2023 

Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited)  
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Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited)  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
• In 2022-23, Government of Alberta grants totaled $92.5 million. Actual results consist of 

transfers from Alberta Heritage Science and Engineering Research Endowment Fund (AHSER) 
amounting to $36.5 million. The purpose of AHSER is to support a balanced long-term program 
of research and innovation directed to the discovery of new knowledge and the application of 
that knowledge to the commercialization of technology. Also included is $48.0 million from the 
Alberta Heritage Foundation for Medical Research Endowment Fund (AHFMR). The purpose of 
AHFMR is to support a balanced long-term program of research and innovation related to health 
and directed to the discovery of new knowledge and the application of that knowledge to improve 
health and the quality of health services in Alberta. Both AHSER and AHFMR are grants to 
Alberta Innovates. 

 
• In 2022-23, $44.1 million of shared services were provided to other ministries and external 

entities. 
 

• Other revenue of $48.1 million mainly consists of $42 million of external revenue for Alberta 
Innovates.  

 
• Federal grants received from the Government of Canada totaled $7.2 million, which is an 

increase of $1.8 million from 2021-22. 
 
 

  

2023 Actuals 
(in thousands) 
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Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited)  
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Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited)  

 

 

 
• Supplies and services were the Ministry’s largest operating expense, representing 39 per cent 

of the total expense. This is mainly attributable to Information Technology services totaling 
$ 207 million, Contract services for $86 million and Telecommunication for $10 million.  

 
• Grants paid were the ministry’s second largest expense, which made up 34 per cent of total 

operating expenses. $311 million in grants was provided to support organizations and 
communities through grant programs administered by the Department and Alberta Innovates. 

 
• Expenditures for salaries, wages and employee benefits totaled $194 million and accounted 

for 21 per cent of the Ministry’s total expense. This includes $66.8 million for Alberta Innovates, 
$1.5 million for Alberta Enterprise Corporation, and $125.9 million for the Department in support 
of the ministry’s operations, provision of shared services, programs and administration of 
grants. 

 
• Amortization totaled $51.3 million and accounted for six per cent of the Ministry’s operating 

expense. Amortization is a non-cash expense representing the depletion or use of a capital 
asset. It is a proxy for the capital investment required to maintain and replenish assets owned 
by Technology and Innovation. These assets are used to deliver the department’s programs 
and the programs of other ministries, through shared services. 

 
• Total expenses increased by $102 million primarily due to the vaccine development program and 

innovation employment program, partially offset by a decrease in amortization. 
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Supplemental Financial Information  

Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited)  
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Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited)  

 

Technology and Innovation’s $349.4 million tangible capital assets are comprised of: 
 
• Information Management and Technology (IMT) assets of $301 million, composed of computer 

hardware, software and equipment, which supports and enables the delivery of information 
management and data services, IMT infrastructure, architecture, security and risk management 
services; 

• Equipment includes vehicles, laboratory equipment, heavy equipment, office furniture, 
and other equipment. 

• Building includes Alberta Carbon Conversion Technology Centre (ACCTC) with net book value  
of $11.3 million. 

• Other includes land portion of C-FER Technologies Inc. building for $566 thousand. 
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Portfolio Investments (unaudited)  
 

 
 
Management is responsible for estimating the relative reliability of data or inputs used by the 
Ministry to measure the fair value of the Ministry's investments. The measure of reliability is 
determined based on the following three levels: 
The ministry’s investment have all been classified within level three as the fair value is based on 
valuation methods where inputs that are based on non-observable market data have a significant 
impact on valuation. As quoted market prices are not readily available, estimated fair values may 
not reflect amounts that could be realized upon immediate sale, nor amounts that may ultimately 
be realized. Accordingly, the estimated fair values may differ significantly from the values that 
would have been used had a ready market existed for these investments. 
 
Level Three: Fair value is based on valuation methods where inputs that are based on non-
observable market data have a significant impact on the valuation. For these investments trading 
activity is infrequent and fair values are derived using valuation techniques. 
  

Comparison of  Fair Value as  of Mar 31, 2023 
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Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities  
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[Original signed by W.Doug Wylie FCPA, FCMA, ICD.D] 
Auditor General 

June 2, 2023 

Edmonton, Alberta  
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Statement of Operations 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Operations  

Year ended March 31, 2023  
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Statement of Financial Position 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Financial Position 

Year ended March 31, 2023  
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Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended March 31, 2023  
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Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses 

Year ended March 31, 2023  
 
 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes and schedules are part of these financial statements. 
  

2023 2022 
 

 (in thousands)  
 

Unrealized (losses) gains 
Portfolio investments 

attributed to:  
$ (10,436) 

 
$ 40,884 

Foreign exchange  9,936 (1,190) 
Amounts Reclassified to the Statement of Operations: 

Portfolio Investments - Realized Gains on Investments (1,395) (10,226) 
Net Remeasurement (Loss) Gains for the Period (Note 7) (1,895) 29,468 
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains at Beginning of Year 83,868 54,400 
Accumulated Remeasurement Gains as at End of Year $ 81,973 $ 83,868 
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Statement of Cash Flows  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended March 31, 2023  
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Notes to the Financial Statements  

March 31, 2023  
 
Note 1 AUTHORITY 
 

The Alberta Enterprise Corporation (the Corporation) is a Provincial Corporation that operates under the authority of 
the Alberta Enterprise Corporation Act . 

 
The Corporation was established on December 5, 2008 and is part of a strategy to encourage technology 
commercialization and promote growth in Alberta’s venture capital industry. 

 
The Corporation is exempt from income taxes under the Income Tax Act . 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 
 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 
 

(a) Reporting Entity 
 

The reporting entity is the Corporation, which is part of the Ministry of Technology and Innovation (the Ministry) and 
for which the Minister of Technology and Innovation (the Minister) is accountable. Other entities accountable to the 
Minister are the Department of Technology and Innovation (the Department) and Alberta Innovates. The activities 
of these organizations are not included in these financial statements. 

 
The Ministry Annual Report provides a more comprehensive accounting of the financial positions and results 
of the Ministry’s operations for which the Minister is accountable. 
 
(b) Basis of Financial Reporting 

                           Revenues 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services have 
not been provided by year end is recognized as unearned revenue and recorded in accounts payable and 
other accrued liabilities. 

 
Government transfers 
Transfers from all governments are referred to as government transfers. 

 

Government transfers and associated externally restricted investment income are recognized as deferred 
contributions if the eligibility criteria for use of the transfer, or the stipulations together with the Corporation’s 
actions and communications as to the use of the transfer, create a liability. These transfers are recognized as 
revenue as the stipulations are met and, when applicable, the Corporation complies with its communicated use 
of these transfers. 

 
All other government transfers, without stipulations for the use of the transfer, are recognized as revenue 
when the transfer is authorized and the Corporation meets the eligibility criteria (if any). 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
 
Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (Cont'd) 
 

(b) Basis of Financial Reporting (Cont'd) 
 

Investment income 
Investment income includes dividend and interest income and realized gains or losses on the sale of portfolio 
investments. Unrealized gains and losses on portfolio investments that are not from restricted transfers, 
donations or contributions are recognized in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses until the 
related investments are sold. Once realized, these gains or losses are recognized in the Statement of 
Operations. 

 

Expenses 
Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received during 
the year are expensed.  
 
Grants and transfers are recognized as expenses when the transfer is authorized and eligibility criteria have 
been met by the recipient. 
 

Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows: 

Financial Statement Component Measurement 
Cash Cost 
Accounts receivable Lower of cost or net recoverable value 
Portfolio investments Fair value 
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities Cost 

 

Fair value is the amount of consideration agreed upon in an arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, 
willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. The fair values of cash, accounts payable and other 
accrued liabilities are estimated to approximate their carrying values, because of the short term nature of 
these instruments. 

 

Financial Assets 
 

Financial assets are assets that could be used to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations and are 
not for consumption in the normal course of operations. 

 
Financial assets are the Corporation’s financial claims on external organizations and individuals, as well as cash at 
the end of the year. 

 
 

Cash 
Cash comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits. 

 
Accounts receivable 
Accounts receivable are recognized at the lower of cost or net recoverable value. A valuation allowance is 
recognized when recovery is uncertain. 

  



 
 Financial Information 
 

 

Technology and Innovation | Annual Report 2022–2023 59 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
 
Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (Cont'd) 
 

(b) Basis of Financial Reporting (Cont'd) 
 

Portfolio investments 
Portfolio investments in limited partnerships are recognized at fair value. Fair value is determined by the 
limited partnerships based upon valuation techniques considered appropriate by the Corporation and may 
include techniques such as discounted cash flows, prevailing market values for instruments with similar 
characteristics and other pricing models as appropriate. The Corporation relies upon the General Partner's 
valuation of the investments in the limited partnerships. 

 
Unrealized gains and losses from changes in the fair value of portfolio investments are recognized in the 
Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses. Once realized, the cumulative gain or losses previously 
recognized in the Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses are recognized in net investment income. 

 
Portfolio investments are reviewed on an annual basis for impairment. When there is a loss in the 
Corporation's share of investment other than a temporary decline then the loss is adjusted and recognized in 
the Statement of Operations. 
A write-down of a portfolio investment to reflect a loss in value is not reversed for a subsequent increase in value. 

 
Purchases and dispositions of portfolio investments are recognized on the trade date. Management fees paid are 
expensed in the year. 

 

Liabilities 
 

Liabilities are present obligations of the Corporation to external organizations and individuals arising from past 
transactions or events occurring before the year end, the settlement of which is expected to result in the future 
sacrifice of economic benefits. They are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and 
management can reasonably estimate the amounts. 

 
Liabilities also include: 
• all financial claims payable by the Corporation at the year end; and 
• accrued employee vacation entitlements. 

 

Foreign currency translation 
 

Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into their Canadian dollar equivalents at 
exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Carrying values of monetary assets and liabilities and non-
monetary items included in the fair value category reflect the exchange rates at the Statement of Financial 
Position date. Unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in the Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 

 
In the period of settlement, foreign exchange gains and losses are reclassified to the Statement of Operations, 
and the cumulative amount of remeasurement gains and losses are reversed in the Statement of 
Remeasurement Gains and Losses. 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
 
Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (Cont'd) 
 

(b) Basis of Financial Reporting (Cont'd)  

Non-Financial Assets 

Non-financial assets are acquired, constructed, or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to 
discharge existing liabilities, but instead: 

 
(a) are normally employed to deliver government services; 
(b) may be consumed in the normal course of operations; and 
(c) are not for sale in the normal course of operations. 

 
Non-financial assets include tangible capital assets and prepaid expenses. 

 

Tangible capital assets 
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization, which includes amounts 
that are directly related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment 
of the assets. 

 
The cost, less residual value, of the tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a straight-line 
basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 
Leasehold improvements 10 Years 

 
Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the 
Corporation's ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated 
with the tangible capital assets are less than their net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as 
expenses in the Statement of Operations. 

 

Prepaid expenses 
Prepaid expenses is recognized at cost and amortized based on the terms of the agreement. 

 
Measurement Uncertainty 

 

Measurement uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized or disclosed amount and 
another reasonably possible amount. Portfolio investments recognized at $203,405 (2022 - $187,164) in the 
financial statements are subject to measurement uncertainty. 

 
Measurement uncertainty exists with the determination of the fair value of the investments. The fair value of the 
investments is estimated by the General Partner of each fund. The process of valuing investments for which no 
published market exists is inevitably based on inherent uncertainties and the resulting values may differ from 
value that would have been used had a ready market existed for the investments. 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  

 
 

Note 3 FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
 

On April 1, 2023, AEC will adopt the following new accounting standards approved by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board: 

 
• PS 3400 Revenue 

This accounting standard provides guidance on how to account for and report on revenue, and specifically, 
it differentiates between revenue arising from exchange and non-exchange transactions. 
 

• PS 3160 Public Private Partnerships 
This accounting standard provides guidance on how to account for public private partnerships between  
public and private sector entities, where the public sector entity procures infrastructure using a private sector 
partner. 

 
Management is currently assessing the impact of these standards on the financial statements. 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
 
Note 7 PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS 

(in thousands) 
 

The Government of Alberta originally allocated $100,000 in 2008 for investments in limited partnerships that 
provide venture capital in knowledge-based industries. An additional $25,000 was allocated in 2016, $50,000 
was allocated in 2017, $75,000 was allocated in 2021, $50,000 was allocated in 2022, and $50,000 was 
allocated in 2023 for additional investments in limited partnerships. 

 

The Corporation is a limited partner in thirty (2022 – twenty four) limited partnerships and $326,381 (2022 - 
$269,280) has been contributed and committed to these limited partnerships. Committed funds are paid into 
the limited partnership in amounts and at times determined by the general partner in order to meet the limited 
partnerships funding requirements. Distributions from the limited partnerships can be used toward future cash 
calls from the fund which distributed the capital. The Corporation’s contributions to date and commitments are as 
follows: 

 
(a) Funds disbursed during the year include management fees of $6,377 (2022 - $4,813). Management fees may be 

recovered from limited partnerships in accordance with the limited partnership agreements. Total funds 
disbursed at the end of the year include management fees of $40,553 (2022 - $34,176). 

(b) Commitments payable in USD. Remaining commitments based on the exchange rate at March 31, 2023. 
(c) Avrio Ventures II was dissolved on December 31, 2021. Total fund committed was $5,980. There are no further 

commitments to this fund. 

 
 
 
Limited Partnerships 

Funds Disbursed 
to Partnerships 

for Original 
Commitment(a) 

 
 

Remaining 
Commitments 

Total Funds 
Disbursed and 

Committed, End 
of the Year 

 
 

Cost of 
Investments 

 
32 Degrees D.E.Fund II (S&T AIV) 

 
$ 9,937 

 
$ 63 

 
$ 10,000 

 
$ 6,724 

Accelerate Fund I 10,000 - 10,000 $ 10,000 
Accelerate Fund II 9,350 650 10,000 $ 9,350 
Accelerate Fund III 6,778 8,222 15,000 $ 6,778 
Alpaca VC Fund III LP(b) 3,282 6,749 10,031 $ 3,282 
Amplitude Ventures Fund I 2,412 2,588 5,000 $ 2,412 
Azure Capital Partners III (b) 11,319 - 11,319 $ 11,319 
Azure Opportunities Feeder Fund (b) 2,541 108 2,649 $ 2,541 
Builders VC Fund I (b) 8,369 1,497 9,866 $ 8,369 
Builders II Fund (b) 4,459 9,101 13,560 $ 4,459 
Chrysalix Energy III Fund (b) 16,371 552 16,923 $ 16,371 
EnerTech Capital Partners IV (b) 18,082 395 18,477 $ 18,082 
Evok Fund II(b) 1,986 11,565 13,551 $ 1,986 
Flying Fish Fund II QP LP (b) 3,079 6,899 9,978 $ 3,079 
iNovia Fund 2018 (b) 10,063 3,011 13,074 $ 10,063 
iNovia Fund III 10,000 - 10,000 $ 10,000 
iNovia Fund V(b) - 16,240 16,240 $ - 
iNovia Growth II (b) 10,177 9,642 19,819 $ 10,177 
McRock Fund II 7,328 2,672 10,000 $ 7,328 
McRock iNfund 10,000 - 10,000 $ 10,000 
New Acres Capital Ag & Food 4,898 102 5,000 $ 4,898 
Panache Ventures Investment Fund 4,623 377 5,000 $ 4,623 
Panache Ventures Investment Fund II 2,000 8,000 10,000 $ 2,000 
PillarFour Capital Fund II(b) 1,465 2,489 3,954 $ 1,465 
Relay Ventures Fund III (b) 12,390 832 13,222 $ 12,390 
Relay Ventures Fund V(b) 2,514 11,004 13,518 $ 2,514 
Sprout II 331 2,169 2,500 $ 331 
Yaletown Innovation Growth 7,500 2,500 10,000 $ 7,500 
Yaletown Innovation Growth Fund II 3,014 10,686 13,700 $ 3,014 
Yaletown Ventures II 14,000 - 14,000 $ 14,000 

Total - March 31, 2023 $ 208,268 $ 118,113 $ 326,381 $ 205,055 
     

Total - March 31, 2022 $ 184,827 $ 84,453 $ 269,280 $ 181,615 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  

 
Note 7  PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS (Cont'd) 

(in thousands) 
 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

Management is responsible for estimating the relative reliability of data or inputs used by the Corporation to 
measure the fair value of the Corporation's investments. The measure of reliability is determined based on the 
following three levels: 
 
Level One: Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
traded in active markets. Level one primarily includes publicly traded listed equity investments. 
 
Level Two: Fair value is based on valuation methods that make use of inputs, other than quoted prices included 
within level one, that are observable by market participation either directly through quoted prices for similar but not 
identical assets or indirectly through observable market information used in valuation models. Level two primarily 
includes debt securities and derivative contracts not traded on a public exchange and public equities not traded in 
an active market. For these investments, fair values are either derived from a number of prices that are provided by 
independent pricing sources or from pricing models that use observable market data such as swap curves and 
credit spreads. 
 
Level Three: Fair value is based on valuation methods where inputs that are based on non-observable market 
data have a significant impact on the valuation. For these investments trading activity is infrequent and fair values 
are derived using valuation techniques. 
 
Inputs are used in applying the various valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market 
participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. Inputs may include price 
information, volatility statistics, specific and broad credit data, liquidity statistics, and other factors. An 
investment’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement. However, the determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgment 
by the Corporation. The Corporation considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available, 
regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, provided by multiple, independent sources 
that are actively involved in the relevant market. The categorization of an investment within the hierarchy is based 
upon the pricing transparency of the investment and does not necessarily correspond to the Corporation's 
perceived risk of that investment. 

The Corporation’s investments have all been classified within level three as the fair value is based on valuation 
methods where inputs that are based on non-observable market data have a significant impact on valuation. 
When observable prices are not available for these securities the limited partnerships use one or more valuation 
techniques (e.g. the market approach, the income approach) for which sufficient and reliable data is available. 
Within level three, the use of the market approach generally consists of using comparable market transactions, 
while the use of the income approach generally consists of the net present value of the estimated future cash 
flows, adjusted as appropriate for liquidity, credit, market and/or other risk factors. 

 
As quoted market prices are not readily available for private investments, estimated fair values may not reflect 
amounts that could be realized upon immediate sale, nor amounts that may ultimately be realized. Accordingly, 
the estimated fair values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market 
existed for these investments. 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  
 
Note 7  PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS (Cont'd) 

(in thousands) 
 

Financial Risk Management 
 

The Corporation is exposed to a variety of financial risks associated with the underlying securities held in the limited 
partnerships. These financial risks include market risk and liquidity risk. Market risk is the risk of loss from unfavourable 
change in fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument causing financial loss. Market risk is comprised of price 
risk and foreign currency risk. 

 
(a) Price Risk 

The Corporation's price risk is driven primarily by volatility in its venture capital investments. The Corporation generally 
invests in limited partnerships in the initial stages of development. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuations, 
estimated fair values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the 
securities existed, and the difference could be material. 
 
To manage price risk, the Corporation takes a mindful approach to diversify its investments in limited partnerships 
focusing on different sectors of innovation creating sectoral diversification. In addition, each limited partnership has 
established a target mix of investment types and the Corporation will aggregate investment types to ensure appropriate 
sectoral diversification within a reasonable risk tolerance and in accordance with the limited partnership’s investment 
mandate. 
 
Based on the financial position of the Corporation on March 31, 2023, if the value of investments decreased by five 
percent, with all other variables held constant, net assets decrease approximately by $10,170 (2022 - $9,358). In practice, 
actual investments results may differ from this analysis and the difference could be material. 
 
(b) Foreign Currency Risk 

The Corporation is exposed to foreign currency risk associated with portfolio investments and cash denominated in USD. 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. Investments and cash denominated in USD currencies are translated into Canadian 
dollars using the reporting date exchange rate. 
 
The value of the Corporation’s investments in limited partnerships denominated in USD may change due the 
changes in exchange rates. $119,390, or 59% of the Corporation’s investment, are denominated in US dollars (2022 - 
$105,429, or 56%). The carrying amount of cash denominated in USD is $3,070 (2022 - $586). 
 
If the value of the Canadian dollar increased by 10% against the U.S. dollar, and all other variables are held constant, the 
potential loss in carrying value to the Corporation would be approximately 6.0% of total investments and cash (2022 - 
5.7%). The Corporation does not participate in any foreign currency hedging activities. 
 
(c) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that a given investment or asset cannot be traded quickly enough in the market to prevent a loss. 
The Corporation’s investments are long term and highly illiquid. There is no assurance that the Corporation will ultimately 
realize the carrying value of the investments. 

 
To manage these risks, the Corporation has established policies around the type of limited partnerships that it invests in. 
Investment commitments exceed cash on hand, and management plans to use future distributions from the limited 
partnerships to meet the commitments. 
 
(d) Other Risks 

The corporation is not exposed to significant credit and interest risk.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
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Alberta Enterprise Corporation 
Notes to the Financial Statements (Cont’d) 
March 31, 2023  

 

Note 11 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

Certain 2022 figures have been reclassified to conform to the 2023 presentation. 

 
Note 12 APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Board approved the financial statements of Alberta Enterprise Corporation on June 2, 2023. 
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Schedule 1 – Expenses – Detailed by Object  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Expenses – Detailed by Object  

Year ended March 31, 2023  

 

 

 
  

 
2023 2022 

 

Budget Actual Actual 
 

(in thousands) 
 

Salaries, wages and employee benefits $ 1,700 $ 1,547 $ 1,323 
Supplies, services and payments to consultants 1,170 895 516 
Grants and sponsorships 180 177 181 
Amortization of tangible capital assets (Note 10)  -   15   -  
Total expenses  $ 3,050   $ 2,634   $ 2,020  
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure  

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure  

Year ended March 31, 2023  
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions 

Alberta Enterprise Corporation 

Related Party Transactions  

Year ended March 31, 2023  

 
Related parties are those entities consolidated or accounted for on the modified equity basis in the 
Government of Alberta’s Consolidated Financial Statements. Related parties also include key 
management personnel and close family members of those individuals in the Corporation. The 
Corporation and its employees paid or collected certain taxes and fees set by regulation for premiums, 
licenses and other charges. These amounts were incurred in the normal course of business, reflect 
charges applicable to all users, and have been excluded from this schedule. 

Entities in the ministry refers to entities consolidated in the Ministry of Technology and Innovation (TI). 
Other entities outside of the ministry relate to the remaining entities consolidated at the Provincial level. 
 
The Corporation had a shared service arrangement with the Department of Technology and Innovation 
and received financial services at no charge. 

 
The Corporation had the following transactions with related parties reported in the Statement of Operations 
and the Statements of Financial Position at the amount of consideration agreed upon between the related 
parties: 
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Consolidated Statement of Operations  

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Operations 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

 
The accompanying notes and schedules are part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

Year ended March 31, 2023 

  



 
 Financial Information 
 

 

Technology and Innovation | Annual Report 2022–2023 77 

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets  

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  

Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 1 AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE 

Alberta Innovates is a Provincial corporation, as defined in the Financial Administration Act. It was established effective 
November 1, 2016 under the Alberta Research and Innovation Act. The Alberta Research and Innovation Act was 
amended to dissolve the four corporations: Alberta Innovates - Bio Solutions, Alberta Innovates - Energy and Environment 
Solutions, Alberta Innovates - Health Solutions, and Alberta Innovates - Technology Futures and create one new research 
and innovation corporation, “Alberta Innovates.” Two wholly owned subsidiary corporations C-FER Technologies (1999) 
Inc. and InnoTech Alberta Inc. along with the Alberta Foundation for Health Research are also reporting entities of Alberta 
Innovates ("The Corporation"). 
 
The objectives of the Corporation are to support, for the economic and social well-being of Albertans, research and 
innovation activities aligned to meet Government of Alberta priorities, including, without limitation, activities directed at the 
discovery, commercialization and application of knowledge in the areas of agriculture, energy, environment, forestry, 
health and other areas determined by the regulations. 
 
The Corporation is exempt from income taxes under the Income Tax Act. 

 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards. 

(a) Reporting Entity and Method of Consolidation 

These consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the Corporation and its 
wholly owned subsidiaries InnoTech Alberta Inc., C-FER Technologies (1999) Inc. and the Alberta Foundation for Health 
Research (AFHR). The AFHR operates under the Alberta Companies Act and is a registered charitable organization for 
income tax purposes. All inter-entity balances and transactions have been eliminated on consolidation. 
 
The accounts of government sector entities are consolidated using the line-by-line method. Under this method, accounting 
policies of the consolidated entities are adjusted to conform to the Corporation's accounting policies and the results of 
each line item in their financial statements (revenue, expense, assets, and liabilities) are included in the Corporation’s 
results. 
Revenue and expense, capital, investing and financing transactions and related asset and liability balances between the 
consolidated entities have been eliminated. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

(b) Basis of Financial Reporting  

Revenues 

All revenues are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Cash received for which goods or services have not been 
provided by year end is recognized as deferred revenue and recorded in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities. 
Externally restricted revenue is recognized as revenue in the period in which the resources are used for the purpose 
specified. Funds received prior to meeting the criteria are recorded as deferred revenue until the resources are used for 
the purpose specified. 
 
External revenue is contract revenue that is recognized using the percentage of completion method. The Corporation 
makes full provision for all known or estimated losses on uncompleted contracts as soon as they can reasonably be 
estimated. 
 
Investment income includes interest income. Investment income earned from restricted sources is deferred and 
recognized when the terms imposed have been met. 
 
Other revenue is contract and fee for service work billed to Alberta Government ministries and agencies, post secondary 
institutions and school divisions. 

 

Government Transfers 

Transfers from all governments are referred to as government transfers. 
 
Government transfers and associated externally restricted investment income are recognized as deferred revenue or 
deferred capital contributions if the eligibility criteria for use of the transfer, or the stipulations together with the 
Corporation’s actions and communications as to the use of the transfer, create a liability. These transfers are recognized 
as revenue as the stipulations are met and, when applicable, the Corporation complies with its communicated use of the 
transfer. 
 
All other government transfers, without stipulations for use of the transfer, are recognized as revenue when the transfer is 
authorized and the Corporation meets the eligibility criteria (if any). 
 
Donations and Non-Government Contributions 

 
Donations and non-government contributions are received from individuals, corporations, and private sector not-for-profit 
organizations. Donations and non-government contributions may be unrestricted or externally restricted for operating or 
capital purposes. 
Unrestricted donations and non-government contributions are recognized as revenue in the year received or in the year 
the funds are committed to the Corporation if the amount can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably 
assured. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

 
Externally restricted donations, non-government contributions and realized and unrealized gains and losses for the 
associated, externally restricted, investment income are recognized as deferred revenue if the terms for their use, or the 
terms along with the Corporation's actions and communications as to the use, create a liability. These resources are 
recognized as revenue as the terms are met and, when applicable, the Corporation complies with its communicated use. 
 
In-kind donations of services and materials are recognized at fair value when such value can reasonably be determined. 

 
Expenses 

 
Expenses are reported on an accrual basis. The cost of all goods consumed and services received during the year are 
expensed. 
 
Transfers include entitlements, grants and transfers under shared cost agreements. Grants and transfers are recognized 
as expenses when the transfer is authorized and eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient. 

 
Valuation of Financial Assets and Liabilities 

 
The Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities are generally measured as follows: 
 

 
The Corporation has no assets or liabilities in the fair value category, has no significant foreign currency transactions and 
has no significant remeasurement gains or losses. Consequently, no statement of remeasurement gains and losses has 
been presented. 

 
Financial Assets 

 
Financial assets are assets that could be used to discharge existing liabilities or finance future operations and are not for 
consumption in the normal course of operations. 
 
Financial assets are the Corporation’s financial claims on external organizations and individuals, as well as cash. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

Cash 

 
Cash comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits in the Consolidated Liquidity Solution (CLS). Effective July 4, 
2022, the CLS replaces the Consolidated Cash Investment Trust Fund (CCITF) as the Province's cash pooling structure. 
The new CLS structure will enhance the effectiveness and efficiency from Province's cash management perspective. A 
CLS participant is paid interest on monthly basis on their cash balance at an interest rate based on 12 week rolling 
average of the Province's 3 month cost of borrowing. 
 
Accounts Receivable  

 
Accounts receivable are recognized at the lower of cost or net recoverable value. A valuation allowance is recognized 
when recovery is uncertain. 
 
Liabilities 
 
Liabilities represent present obligations of the Corporation to external organizations and individuals arising from past 
transactions or events occurring before the year end, the settlement of which is expected to result in the future sacrifice of 
economic benefits. They are recognized when there is an appropriate basis of measurement and management can 
reasonably estimate the amounts. 

 

Liabilities also include: 
 
• all financial claims payable by the Corporation at the year end; 

• accrued employee vacation entitlements; and 

• contingent liabilities where future liabilities are likely. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

Asset retirement obligations are legal obligations associated with the retirement of a tangible capital assets (TCA). Asset 
retirement activities include all activities relating to an asset retirement obligation. These may include, but are not limited 
to; 
 
• decommissioning or dismantling a tangible capital asset that was acquired, constructed or developed; 

• remediation of contamination of a tangible capital asset created by its normal use; 

• post-retirement activities such as monitoring; and 

• constructing other tangible capital assets to perform post-retirement activities. 

A liability for an asset retirement obligation is recognized when, as at the financial reporting date: 
 

(a) there is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset; 

(b) the past transactions or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; 

(c) it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(d) a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

When a liability for asset retirement obligation is recognized, asset retirement costs related to recognized tangible capital 
assets in productive use are capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related asset and are amortized over the 
estimated useful life of the underlying tangible capital asset. Asset retirement costs related to unrecognized tangible 
capital assets and those not in productive use are expensed. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

Environmental Liabilities 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that 
exceeds an environmental standard, being introduced into soil, water or sediment. A liability for remediation of a 
contaminated site may arise from an operation that is either in productive use or no longer in productive use and may also 
arise from an unexpected event resulting in contamination. The resulting liability is recognized when all of the following 
criteria are met: 
i. an environmental standard exists; 

ii. contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

iii. the Corporation is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

iv. it is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

v. a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Other environmental liabilities are recognized when all of the following criteria are met: 
 
i. the Corporation has a duty or responsibility to others, leaving little or no discretion to avoid the obligation; 

ii. the duty or responsibility to others entails settlement by future transfer or use of assets, or a provision of 
services at a specified or determinable date, or on demand; 

iii. the transaction or events obligating the Corporation have already occurred; and 

iv. a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

Non-Financial Assets 

Non-financial assets are acquired, constructed, or developed assets that do not normally provide resources to discharge 
existing liabilities, but instead: 

(a) are normally employed to deliver government services. 

(b) may be consumed in the normal course of operations; and 

(c) are not for sale in the normal course of operations 

Non-financial assets include tangible capital assets and prepaid expenses. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

Tangible Capital Assets 

 
Tangible capital assets are recognized at cost less accumulated amortization, which includes amounts that are directly 
related to the acquisition, design, construction, development, improvement or betterment of the assets. Cost includes 
overhead directly attributable to construction and development, as well as asset retirement cost. The threshold for 
capitalizing new systems development is $250,000 and the threshold for major systems enhancements is $100,000. The 
threshold for all other tangible capital assets is $5,000. All land is capitalized. 
 
Work in progress, which included facilities and improvements projects and development of information systems, is not 
amortized until after a project is complete (or substantially complete) and the asset is put into service. 
 
Tangible capital assets, excluding land, are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Buildings and improvements       10-30  Years 
Equipment          3-25  Years 
Computer hardware and software        3-10  Years 
 
Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate that they no longer contribute to the Corporation’s 
ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital 
assets are less than their net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as expenses in the Consolidated 
Statement of Operations. 

 
Contributed tangible capital assets from non-related entities are recognized at their fair value at the time of contribution.  
 
Prepaid Expenses 

Prepaid expenses are recognized at cost and amortized based on the terms of the agreement. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND REPORTING PRACTICES (continued) 

• Basis of Financial Reporting (continued) 

Financial Risk Management 

The Corporation's financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable and accounts payable and other accrued 
liabilities. The Corporation is not involved in any hedging relationships through its operations and does not hold or use any 
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 
 
The Corporation's financial instruments are exposed to credit risk, market risk, and liquidity risk. 

 

a) Credit Risk 
Counterparty credit risk is the risk of loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to fully honour its financial obligations 
with the Corporation. The Corporation's accounts receivable are exposed to credit risk. Management manages this risk by 
continually monitoring the creditworthiness of counterparties and by dealing with counterparties that it believes are 
creditworthy. 

 

b) Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss from unfavourable change in fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument causing 
financial loss. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk. The Corporation's cash is exposed 
to interest rate risk. Management manages this risk by continually monitoring the Corporation's deposits in the 
Consolidated Liquidity Solution (CLS) and their corresponding rate of return. 

 

c) Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities. The Corporation's accounts payable and other accrued liabilities are exposed to liquidity risk. Management 
manages this risk by continually monitoring cash flows. 
 
Measurement Uncertainty 

 
Measurement uncertainty exists when there is a variance between the recognized or disclosed amount and another 
reasonably possible amount. There is measurement uncertainty related to asset retirement obligations as it involves 
estimates in determining settlement amount, discount rates and timing of settlement. Changes to any of these estimates 
and assumptions may result in change to the obligation. 

Asset retirement obligations, recognized as $2,813 (2022 restated (note 3a) - $2,667) in these financial statements, 
consists of estimated decommissioning costs for the Alberta Carbon Capture Technology Centre and estimated end of 
lease obligations at Bell Tower.  
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 3 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATION ERROR 
 (in thousands) 

a) Change in Accounting Policy 

Effective April 1, 2022, the Corporation adopted the new accounting standard PS 3280 Asset Retirement Obligations and 
applied the standard using the modified retroactive approach with restatement of prior year comparative information. 

On the effective date of the PS 3280 standard, the Corporation recognized the following to conform to the new standard; 

i. asset retirement obligations, adjusted for accumulated accretion to the effective 
date 

ii. asset retirement cost capitalized as an increase to the carrying amount of the related 
tangible capital assets in productive use; 

iii. accumulated amortization on the capitalized cost; and 

iv. adjustment to the opening balance of the accumulated surplus / deficit. 

Amounts are measured using information, assumptions and discount rates where applicable that are current on the 
effective date of the standard. The amount recognized as an asset retirement cost is measured as of the date the asset 
retirement obligation was incurred. Accumulated accretion and amortization are measured for the period from the date the 
liability would have been recognized had the provisions of this standard been in effect to the date as of which this 
standard is first applied. 

In previous years, the Corporation accounted for its asset retirement obligations based on an estimate of future liability. 
The Corporation has now measured these asset retirement obligations using either the present value method or cost 
escalation technique as recommended by the new standard. 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 3 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATION ERROR 
(continued) 

• Change in Accounting Policy (continued) 

Impact on the prior year’s financial statements as a result of the change in accounting policy is as follows: 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
 

Note 3 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND CORRECTION OF PRIOR YEAR RECLASSIFICATION ERROR 
(continued) 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Alberta Innovates 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued) 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Schedule 1 - Consolidated Expenses – Detailed by Object  

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidate Expenses – Detailed by Object 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Alberta Innovates 

Salary and Benefits Disclosure 

Year ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions  

Alberta Innovates 

Related Party Transactions 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions (Continued) 

Alberta Innovates 

Related Party Transactions  

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Schedule 4 – Consolidated Allocated Costs 

Alberta Innovates 

Consolidated Allocated Costs 

Year ended March 31, 2023 
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Other Financial Information  
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Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)  

Department of Technology and Innovation 

Year Ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)…Continued 
 
 
 

(1) As per “Expense Vote by Program,” “Capital Investment Vote by Program” and “Financial Transaction Vote by Program” pages 
209 and 210 of 2023-24 Government Estimates. 

(2) Adjustments include encumbrances, capital carry over amounts, transfers between votes, credit or recovery increases approved 
by Treasury Board and credit or recovery shortfalls. An encumbrance is incurred when, on a vote by vote basis, the total of actual 
disbursements in the prior year exceed the total adjusted estimate. All calculated encumbrances from the prior year are reflected 
as an adjustment to reduce the corresponding voted estimate in the current year. 

 
Adjustments also include supply vote transfers for "Contingency" as approved by the Lieutenant Governor in Council under the 
direction of the Minister of Finance. The Contingency supply vote consists of a provisional funding authority transferable to any 
ministry. Upon approval by the Lieutenant Governor in Council, the President of Treasury Board and Minister of Finance may 
either spend or transfer all or a portion of this supply vote to another minister for public emergencies, disasters or unanticipated 
costs. 

(3) Actuals exclude non-voted amounts as no cash disbursement is required (non-cash amounts), or because the Legislative 
Assembly has already provided the funding authority pursuant to a statute other than an appropriation act. Non-cash amounts 
(such as amortization, valuation adjustments, and other provisions are excluded as these amounts do not require any expenditure 
or payment of public money. Year-end expense accruals & payables which will immediately require a cash outlay (payment of 
public money) to settle or otherwise extinguish the liabilities are included in Actuals. 
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Statement of Credit or Recovery (unaudited)  

Department of Technology and Innovation 

Year Ended March 31, 2023 

(in thousands) 
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Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act  
Year Ended March 31, 2023 

Section 32 of the Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act reads: 

32(1)     Every chief officer must prepare a report annually on all disclosures that have been 
made to the designated officer of the department, public entity or office of the 
Legislature for which the chief officer is responsible. 

    (2)      The report under subsection (1) must include the following information: 

(a) the number of disclosures received by the designated officer, the number of    
disclosures acted on and the number of disclosures not acted on by the designated 
officer; 

(b) the number of investigations commenced by the designated officer as a result of 
disclosures; 

(c) in the case of an investigation that results in a finding of wrongdoing, a description 
of the wrongdoing and any recommendations made or corrective measures taken in 
relation to the wrongdoing or the reasons why no corrective measure was taken. 

    (3)     The report under subsection (1) must be included in the annual report of the 
department, public entity or office of the Legislature if the annual report is made 
publicly available. 

 
There were no disclosures of wrongdoing filed with the Public Interest Disclosure Office for 
Technology and Innovation between April 1, 2022 and March 31, 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 


	Table of Contents
	Preface
	Minister’s Accountability Statement
	Message from the Minister
	Management’s Responsibility for Reporting
	Results Analysis
	Ministry Overview
	Organizational Structure

	Discussion and Analysis of Results
	Actions that support the priorities of the Government of Alberta Strategic Plan
	Red Tape Reduction
	COVID-19/Recovery Plan
	Outcome One: Government is modernized
	Outcome Two: Data and information management is enhanced
	Outcome Two: Investment and trade are driving Alberta’s economy and growth
	Outcome Three: Consumers are protected and a competitive business environment is preserved
	Outcome Three: Technology and innovation are enabling Alberta to build on its strengths

	Performance Measure and Indicator Methodology

	Financial Information
	Reporting Entity and Method Consolidation
	Ministry Financial Highlights
	Statement of Revenues and Expenses (unaudited)
	Revenue and Expense Highlights
	Breakdown of Revenues (unaudited)
	Expenses – Directly Incurred Detailed by Object (unaudited)

	Supplemental Financial Information
	Tangible Capital Assets (unaudited)
	Portfolio Investments (unaudited)

	Financial Statements of Other Reporting Entities
	Alberta Enterprise Corporation
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Statement of Operations
	Statement of Financial Position
	Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
	Statement of Remeasurement Gains and Losses
	Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Financial Statements
	Schedule 1 – Expenses – Detailed by Object
	Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure
	Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions

	Alberta Innovates
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Operations
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Financial Assets
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Schedule 1 - Consolidated Expenses – Detailed by Object
	Schedule 2 – Salary and Benefits Disclosure
	Schedule 3 – Related Party Transactions
	Schedule 4 – Consolidated Allocated Costs


	Other Financial Information
	Lapse/Encumbrance (unaudited)
	Statement of Credit or Recovery (unaudited)
	Public Interest Disclosure (Whistleblower Protection) Act





